S259172

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JESSICA FERRA,

Plaintiff / Appellant

vs.

LOEWS HOLLYWOOD HOTEL, LLC

Defendant / Respondent

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. B283218 APPEAL From the Superior Court of Los Angeles County. Hon. Kenneth R. Freeman (Los Angeles Super. Ct. Case No. BC586176)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(Service on Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17209, 17536.5)

DLSE Opinion Letter 2003.10.17	
Labor Commissioner's Amicus Curiae Letter in Support of Pe	etition For
Review	

I. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED</u>

Did the Legislature intend the term "regular rate of compensation" in Labor Code section 226.7, which requires employers to pay a wage premium if they fail to provide a legally compliant meal period or rest break, to have the same meaning and require the same calculations as the term "regular rate of pay" under Labor Code section 510(a), which requires employers to pay a wage premium for each overtime hour? (Order Granting Petition for Review January 22, 2020.)¹

¹Labor Code section 226.7 (c) provides: "If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal or rest or recovery period in accordance with a state law, ..., the employer shall pay the employee *one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation* for each work day that the meal or rest period is not provided." (Italics added.) (As originally enacted, this subsection was subsection (b), and did not reference recovery periods).

Labor Code section 510(a)provides in relevant part that work that qualifies for overtime premiums shall be paid at either one and one-half times or twice "the regular rate of pay". (Italics added.)

II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

"Regular rate" is a phrase common to premium payments owing for overtime work and to premium payments owing for meal and rest break violations. Labor Code §§ 510(a), 226.7.²

An hour of wages at the "regular rate" has a wellestablished meaning in federal wage-and-hour law that for decades has been universally applied to California's use of the expression "regular rate of pay" in overtime premium requirements. It includes hourly wages and other nondiscretionary wages, such as non-discretionary bonuses. *See* 29 USC § 207(e); 29 CFR 778.211; *Walling v. Harnischfeger Corp.* (1945) 325 U.S. 421; 2002 Update of The DLSE Enforcement Policies and Interpretations Manual ("2002 DLSE Manual") §§ 35.7, 49.2-49.2.4.3; *Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 542, 562.

That established meaning does not depend on whether the term "regular rate" is followed by "of pay" (as it does in Labor Code section 510), "of compensation" (as it does in Labor Code

² Unless otherwise indicated, all Code section references are to the California Labor Code.

section 226.7), or by neither "of compensation" nor "of pay" (as it does in the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") at 29 USC § 207(a), and § 207(e)). "Regular rate" is the operative phrase that determines how premium pay must be calculated.

Ignoring almost all of the textual and legislative history analysis in Presiding Justice Edmon's 14-page dissenting opinion, the majority affirmed the trial court's ruling that "regular rate of compensation" means base hourly rate, relying almost entirely on a canon of statutory construction that "where different words or phrases are used in the same connection in different parts of a statute, it is **presumed** the Legislature intended a different meaning." Ferra v. Loews Hollywood Hotel, LLC (2019) 40 Cal. App. 5th 1239, 1247 (emphasis added). While acknowledging that both statutes used the same core phrase, "regular rate," the majority found determinative that Section 226.7 referred to the "regular rate of compensation" while Section 510 referred to the "regular rate of pay." That different choice of language, according to the majority, necessarily reflects a different intended meaning. Because it is well-settled that "regular rate of pay" under state and federal law means *all* non-discretionary income, the majority leaps to the conclusion that "regular rate of compensation" must

mean "base hourly wages only" – even though nothing in the word "compensation" itself connotes anything different, or lesser, than "pay." *Ferra, supra,* 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1247-1248.

The majority opinion exalted the significance of the word "compensation" and in the process completely ignored that in the employment context the "plain meaning" of "compensation" is "pay," just as it ignored the Legislature's deliberate use in Sections 226.7 and 510 of the term of art "regular rate" which has enjoyed a settled definition for more than 80 years. In staking out its position, the majority never explains how "of compensation" transforms "regular rate" into "base hourly rate," nor why or how its construction of Section 226.7 would apply in the case of the many categories of California workers who are paid by the piece, by commission, or who otherwise have no base hourly rate.

Justice Edmon's comprehensive dissent not only points out the logical flaws in the majority's approach, but carefully analyzes the legislative and regulatory history, purpose, and text of Section 226.7 – as well as the parallel language in Section 510 – in drawing the inevitable conclusion that the Legislature intended "*regular rate* of compensation" and "*regular rate* of pay" to be synonymous, just as those terms were used synonymously

and interchangeably by the Industrial Wage Commission ("IWC") in its Wage Orders and the relevant Statement of Basis, by state and federal courts throughout the country (*including* by this Court and the United States Supreme Court), and by the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement ("DLSE").

Justice Edmon cited extensive evidence from the historical record and statutory text to support her dissenting analysis, including:

- The seven-decade history of "regular rate" as a term of art with a fixed meaning in federal and California wage-andhour laws and regulations, *Ferra*, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1258-1261 (Edmon, J., dissenting);
- The development of "regular rate" jurisprudence in California in the overtime context, *id.*, at 1260-1264;
- The DLSE's adoption of the federal "regular rate" definition, *id.*, at 1260;
- The IWC's Statement of Basis explanation of "regular rate of compensation" as "regular rate of pay", *id.*, at 1262;
- The Legislative History of Sections 510 and 226.7, *id.*, at 1262-1263;
- The interchangeable use of the terms "regular rate of pay"

and "regular rate of compensation" by courts and legislative bodies, *id.*, at 1266-1268, and fn. 4; and

• The synonymous nature of "compensation" and "pay", *id.*, at 1266.

Based on this analysis, Justice Edmon concluded that "when the Legislature used the phrase "regular rate" in Section 226.7, it necessarily intended the phrase to mean what it has always meant: guaranteed hourly wages *plus* "bonuses [that] are a normal and regular part of [an employee's] income." *Ferra*, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1269 (Edmon, J., dissenting) (citing *Walling v. Harnischfeger Corp.* (1945) 325 U.S. 427, 432).

The California Labor Commissioner has fully embraced Justice Edmon's analysis, rather than the majority's canonconfined construction. As explained in the Labor Commissioner's January 16, 2020 *Amicus* Curiae Letter in Support of Petition For Review ("DLSE Amicus"):

[B]ased on the legislative history of section 226.7 it is reasonable to conclude that "compensation" and "pay" have no material impact on the key phrase "regular rate," because those terms are so closely married in meaning that their usage in the Labor Code is stylistic rather than substantive. ...

[T]he *Ferra* majority places minimal, if any weight, on the Legislature's specific choice of the phrase "regular rate," even though that expression has long been part of the "labor code lexicon" and evolved into a "term of art," meaning an employee's hourly rate plus nondiscretionary compensation. If the Legislature had meant for 226.7 to compensate an employee at a "base hourly pay" why did it choose *not* to use that specific phrase, or similar terminology in the statute and instead use "regular rate," which has a distinct and different meaning from "base hourly pay." The *Ferra* majority is markedly silent on this critical aspect of statutory analysis.

DLSE Amicus, at p. 4 (citations omitted).

Ultimately, this case boils down to whether a *presumption* in one canon of statutory construction, as applied to Section 226.7, is more indicative of legislative intent than an overwhelming combination of indicators of legislative intent

buttressed by precedent and by compelling legislative and regulatory history.

In this war fought by Loews with one canon, the fodder of which is a presumption unsupported by "plain meaning" or legislative history, the Plaintiff-Appellant Ferra has the far superior argument in a context where, as here,

[I]n light of the remedial nature of the legislative enactments authorizing the regulation of wages, hours and working conditions for the protection and benefit of employees, the statutory provisions are to be liberally construed with an eye to promoting such protection.

Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785, 794, quoting Industrial Welfare Com. v. Superior Court (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 702.

III. <u>STATEMENT OF CASE AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW</u> A. RELEVANT FACTS

Plaintiff-Appellant Jessica Ferra ("Ferra" or "Plaintiff") was employed by Defendant-Appellee Loews Hollywood Hotel, LLC ("Loews"), a 628-room luxury hotel located in the heart of Hollywood, California, as a bartender from June 16, 2012 to May 12, 2014. Clerk's Transcript, ("CT") Vol. 1: 8, 4:871, 960, 5:980-984, 1031, 1135.

As referenced in the Court of Appeal decision, the parties stipulated for purposes of a motion for summary adjudication that Loews paid (and continues to pay) meal and rest period premiums to hourly employees at their base rate of compensation without including an additional amount based on incentive compensation such as nondiscretionary bonuses. *Ferra, supra,* 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1243. The stipulation the parties entered into was more specific than the Court of Appeal indicated, providing in relevant part:

2. During the class period, Loews paid (and continues to pay) meal and rest period premiums to its hourly paid employees at their base rate of compensation earned at the time their meal or rest period was allegedly not provided. Thus, for example, if Plaintiff earned a base rate of \$15.69 per hour at the time she was not provided a meal break, she would have been paid a \$15.69 premium.

3. When Defendant pays meal and rest premium pay, Defendant does not include an additional amount

based on incentive compensation (i.e. nondiscretionary quarterly bonuses).

CT Vol. 1: 8, 16.

Plaintiff-Appellant alleged that Loews' failure to factor her non-discretionary quarterly bonuses into its calculation of her "regular rate" for purposes of calculating break violation premium pay violated Labor Code section 226.7.

As a practical matter, this factoring is easily accomplished. If, for example an employee received a non-discretionary bonus of \$500 at the end of a quarter based on having met all productivity goals throughout the quarter, and if that employee worked 500 hours during the quarter, the "regular rate" principles that have existed for decades in the state and federal law overtime context require her "regular rate" to one dollar per hour more than her base hourly rate (\$500.00 divided by 500 hours = \$1.00 per hour). For meal or rest period violations no less than overtime, every hour of wage premiums owed would be calculated by adding one dollar to the base hourly rate so, for example, if that employee experienced 10 break violations during the quarter, she would be entitled to ten additional dollars of break violation premium payable at the time the bonus total is determined.³

B. PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT

The operative complaint in this matter alleges on behalf of a class, among other claims, that Loews improperly calculated premium payments owed pursuant to Section 226.7 on account of its failure to factor non-discretionary quarterly bonuses into the required one hour of wages at the "regular rate of compensation" for each break violation that occurred during the quarter. *Ferra*, *supra*, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1243. Plaintiff sought for herself and the class the difference between what they were paid for break violations and what they were owed on account of Loews' failure to factor non-discretionary bonuses into the violation premium payments. The complaint also contained a claim for unpaid work time on account of rounding practices.

Loews' Motion for Summary Adjudication argued that Section 226.7 only requires payment of one hour of pay at an hourly employee's base hourly rate, regardless of any other

³ Retroactive adjustments are regularly made to properly pay overtime premiums once bonuses are determined. See Reference to 29 CFR 778.209 and related cases, below in Section D 5. The same types of adjustments can be made and are made by employers in connection with meal and rest break premiums.

compensation earned during that work period. *Id.*, at 1243-1244. The trial court agreed, finding:

[T]he terms "regular rate of compensation" and "regular rate of pay" are not interchangeable.... [R]est and meal period premiums under § 226.7 need only be paid at the base hourly rate. As is consistent with the legislative history of §§ 226.7 and 510, it is apparent that the terms in both statutes are different, and have different purposes....

Id., at 1244-1245.

Loews, in a later motion, convinced the trial court of its position on the remaining issues (e.g., rounding) and on May 19, 2017, the court granted Summary Judgment for Loews, and Judgment in its favor was entered. *Id.*, at 1245.

C. PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL

Plaintiff timely appealed. In a 2-1 decision, over a forceful dissent by Presiding Justice Edmon, the panel majority (Egerton, J. and Lavin, J), agreed with the trial Court. *Id.*, at 1246.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law; therefore, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Bernardo v*. *Planned Parenthood Federation of America* (2004) 115 Cal. App. 4th 322, 360.

V. <u>DISCUSSION</u>

A. THE GOAL OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION IS ASCERTAINMENT OF LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

This Court's most recent discussion of the principles of statutory construction in an employment law matter reiterated the well-settled standard applied to all statutory construction disputes. "In construing a statute, our task is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the enactment." *Kim v. Reins Int'l.* (March 13, 2020) 259 Cal. Rptr. 769, 775.

Here, that task, as demonstrated below, is facilitated, *inter alia*, by the plain meaning doctrine, the deference to be given to the settled meaning of terms of art such as "regular rate," the failure of the legislature to define "regular rate of compensation," the interchangeable use of "regular rate of pay" and "regular rate of compensation," and the absurd consequences of adopting the majority's interpretation.

B. THE SINGLE CANON RELIED ON BY THE MAJORITY IS NOT A RELIABLE INDICATOR OF LEGISLATIVE INTENT IN THE ENACTMENT OF LABOR CODE 226.7

The majority's conclusion that "regular rate of compensation" means an employee's base hourly rate is grounded entirely on a single canon of statutory construction—that "where different words or phrases are used in the same connection in different parts of a statute, it is presumed the Legislature intended a different meaning. *Ferra*, *supra*, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1247, citing *Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity* (1991) 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1117. Ignored in the majority's analysis is the parallel tenet that when the legislature uses the same words and phrases in different statutes and those words or phrases are

terms of art, such as "regular rate," it is presumed that such

words or phrases are intended to retain their settled meaning.

F.A.A. v. Cooper (2012) 566 U.S. 284, 292; Texas Commerce Bank
v. Garamendi (1992) 11 Cal. App. 4th 460, 475.

The majority turned the single canon it cited into an irrebuttable presumption that the Legislature must have attributed different meanings to the term of art "regular rate," depending on whether the expression was followed by "of

compensation" or "of pay." Ferra, supra, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1247.

The majority was unable to support its position by pointing to any meaningful distinction between the terms "pay" and "compensation" (let alone one where "compensation" is necessarily limited to just one form of compensation), to legislative history that explains why the Legislature was merely following the IWC in using two different descriptors (knowing that IWC used them interchangeably), or to the settled meaning of "regular rate" (which is the operative term of art).

Further, the majority ignored the principal tenet of statutory construction, that in analyzing the text of a statute, unless otherwise defined, words like "compensation" will be interpreted consistent with their ordinary meaning. *De Vries v. Regents of University of California* (2016) 6 Cal. App. 5th 574, 590-591.

To be sure, legislatures often use different words when they intend to express different meanings. *See Rashidi v. Moser* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 718, 725. But it is equally common for legislatures to use synonyms when they intend statutory language to have similar meaning. No single canon of statutory construction is an infallible guide to correct interpretation in all circumstances, especially when, as here, other indicators of legislative intent clearly expose the fallibility of the majority's reliance on a single canon. *City of Palo Alto v. Public Emp. Relations Bd.* (2016) 5 Cal. App. 5th 1271, 1294.

Canons of interpretation are merely tools to aid in the statutory construction inquiry, "not mandatory rules." *Chickasaw Nation v. United States* (2001) 534 U.S. 84, 94; *see also Stone v. Superior Court* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 503, 521 n.10; *City of Palo Alto, supra* (2016) 5 Cal. App. 5th at 1294 ("[The canons] are tools to assist in interpretation, not the formula that always determines it.") (brackets in original; citations omitted); *Xilinx, Inc. v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue* (9th Cir. 2010) 598 F.3d 1191, 1196.

Where the Legislature uses synonymous language in two similar statutes without providing clear indication that it intends that language to have different meanings, it becomes the courts' function to scrutinize the statutes' text, structure, history, and underlying purposes to construe that language. For example, in *City of Palo Alto, supra*, 5 Cal. App. 5th at 1293-94, the California Court of Appeal held that the duty of an employer under the

Myers-Milias-Brown Act to "meet and confer in good faith" and to "consult[] ... in good faith" were equivalent, rejecting the employer's argument that certain canons of statutory interpretation required the court to find that "different words ... have different meanings." See also U.S. v. Gonzales (9th Cir. 2007) 506 F.3d 940, 944-45 (en banc) (construing "term of imprisonment" and "sentence of imprisonment" in the Sentencing Guidelines as "interchangeable," rejecting dissent's argument that the phrases must be construed differently); In re Miller (10th Cir. BAP 2014) 519 B.R. 819, 823-24 (citing Wachovia Bank v. Schmidt (2006) 546 U.S. 303, 314) ("Congress's use of two different terms in a statute does not preclude the courts assigning the terms the same meaning"); id., 519 B.R. at 823 n.22 ("Congress certainly does use synonyms in its drafting, and courts should not strain to interpret words differently when their ordinary meaning is synonymous.").

Justice Edmon's dissent cited other cases for the same proposition. "Although courts sometimes attach significance to the Legislature's use of different words or phrases in related statutes, where statutes appear to use synonymous words or phrases interchangeably, courts have not hesitated to attribute

the same meanings to them." *Ferra*, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 1266 (Edmon, J., dissenting), citing *People v. Frahs* (2018) 27 Cal. App. 5th 784, 793, fn.3, review granted Dec. 27, 2018; *Vector Resources, Inc. v. Baker* (2015) 237 Cal. App. 4th 46, 55; *Alcala v. City of Corcoran* (2007) 147 Cal. App. 4th 666, 672; and *International Assn. of Fire Fighters Union v. City of Pleasanton* (1976) 56 Cal. App. 3d 959, 976; *Midstate Theatres, Inc. v. County of Stanislaus* (1976) 55 Cal. App. 3d 864, 872.

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