S259172

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JESSICA FERRA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LOEWS HOLLYWOOD HOTEL, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, NO. B283218 LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. BC586176

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Service on Attorney General, Attention: Consumer Law Section, and Los Angeles County District Attorney Required by Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17209

BALLARD ROSENBERG GOLPER & SAVITT, LLP RICHARD S. ROSENBERG, State Bar No. 77948

JOHN J. MANIER, State Bar No. 145701

DAVID FISHMAN, State Bar No. 217608

15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, EIGHTEENTH FLOOR

ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436

TELEPHONE: 818-508-3700 | FACSIMILE: 818-506-4827

INTRODUCTION

The sole issue on which this Court granted review is whether the Legislature intended the term "regular rate of compensation" in Labor Code section 226.7,¹ which requires employers to pay a wage premium if they fail to provide a legally-compliant meal period or rest break, to have the same meaning and require the same calculations as the term "regular rate of pay" in section 510(a), which requires employers to pay a wage premium for each overtime hour. The trial court and Court of Appeal both correctly answered this question in the negative, as have most federal district courts to address the issue.

Defendant and Respondent Loews Hollywood Hotel, LLC (Loews) follows the settled, standard practice of tens of thousands of California employers—upheld by the trial court and Court of Appeal—by paying required meal and rest period premiums (i.e., break premiums) at hourly employees' base hourly wage rate. Plaintiff and Appellant Jessica Ferra argues that California employers instead must pay these premiums at employees' "regular rate of pay," a California overtime pay law term of art that incorporates multiple forms of pay beyond the base hourly rate (e.g., commissions, non-discretionary bonuses).

This Court should reject Ferra's theory. As the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, the plain statutory language differentiates "regular rate of compensation" from "regular rate of pay." This result is consistent with the differences in policy

10

 $^{^{1}\,}$ $\,$ All undesignated statutory references are to the Labor Code.

objectives between the meal and rest period premium requirements and the overtime pay laws, as well as precedents of this Court and the Courts of Appeal which have addressed related issues. The rationale for defining "regular rate of pay" to include forms of pay other than the base hourly rate—to ensure employers do not circumvent overtime laws by paying a low hourly rate—is logically inapplicable to break premiums, which unlike overtime premiums are not proportional to time worked and may be owed to employees who perform no overtime work.

Legislative and administrative history do not compel the conclusion that the two phrases have the same meaning—nor does the language of other Labor Code provisions. Although the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE) filed a brief supporting Ferra's petition for review with this Court, it had said nothing consistent with Ferra's position for nearly two decades—and it has no record of directing employers to pay meal or rest premiums at the overtime premium rate, rather than the base hourly rate.

All of Ferra's arguments to this Court rest, explicitly or implicitly, on the notion that "regular rate" is a term of art by itself. But this is true only under federal law, which requires wage premiums for weekly overtime but does not regulate meal periods or rest breaks. As Ferra concedes, the wage orders issued by the Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) dating back to at least 1968 universally have required overtime premiums to be calculated at the "regular rate of pay," which is the applicable term of art under California overtime law. Although overtime

premiums are calculated the same way under both California and federal law, no published authority has suggested the unmodified phrase "regular rate" has a specialized meaning under California law—let alone outside the overtime pay context.

If either the IWC or the Legislature had intended break premiums to be calculated at the overtime premium rate, presumably they would have used the long-established term of art "regular rate of pay" in 2000 when they adopted the applicable wage orders and section 226.7, respectively. Instead, both the IWC and the Legislature chose the phrase "regular rate of compensation" for break premiums—while contemporaneously adopting the phrase "regular rate of pay" for overtime premiums. The IWC's and Legislature's consistent use of this different terminology is presumed to be meaningful, and there is no reason to conclude otherwise.

Although the Legislature frequently uses both "pay" and "compensation" as synonyms for "wages," the dictionary definitions quoted by Ferra show that "pay" invariably is given for goods or services rendered, while "compensation" additionally may pertain to remuneration for a loss—such as deprivation of a legally-required meal break or rest period. This distinction aptly reflects this Court's recognition that break premiums are designed to preserve employees' health and welfare, as opposed to overtime premiums which are calculated to provide full wages for work performed.

Contrary to Ferra's assertions, California employees who lack a base hourly rate are not left without a remedy under the

Court of Appeal's holding—just as they were not even allegedly without a remedy under the practices of California employers and the DLSE for the preceding two decades. In any event, this case *only* involves hourly paid employees with a base hourly rate. The Court of Appeal did not opine on inapposite scenarios where a base hourly rate does not determine employees' compensation.

Loews respectfully submits the Court of Appeal's judgment should be affirmed. Alternatively, Loews respectfully asks that this Court deny retroactive effect to any holding that adopts Ferra's interpretation of the "regular rate of compensation" for break premiums. Most California employers—including Loews—have reasonably paid break premiums at employees' base hourly rates. The statute, wage orders, prior court decisions, and agency guidance do not provide reasonable notice that "regular rate of compensation" means the same as the overtime "regular rate of pay." The consequences of retroactive application would be fundamentally unfair and financially enormous.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Loews operates a 628-room luxury hotel located in the heart of Hollywood. (C.T. 4:871, 960, 5:1135 [i.e., C.T., vol. 4, pp. 871, 960, vol. 5, p. 1135].) Loews employed Ferra as an hourly-paid Cocktail Server and Bartender from June 16, 2012 to May 12, 2014. (Opn., p. 2; C.T. 1:8, 4:871, 960, 5:980-984, 1031, 1135.) After an investigation, Loews terminated Ferra for gross misconduct based on its finding that she failed to adhere to Loews's cash handling procedures. (C.T. 4:871, 960, 5:1135.)

At all relevant times, Loews has paid meal and rest period premiums to its hourly-paid employees at their base hourly rate of compensation earned at the time the break was allegedly not provided. (C.T. 1:8.) Thus, for example, if Ferra earned a base hourly rate of \$15.69 at the time she missed a meal break, she would have been paid a \$15.69 meal premium. (*Ibid.*) When Loews pays these premiums, it does not include an additional amount based on incentive compensation (such as non-discretionary quarterly bonuses). (*Ibid.*; opn., pp. 2-3; see, e.g., C.T. 6:1237.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Ferra filed her operative First Amended Complaint on October 7, 2015. (Opn., p. 2; C.T. 1:4-5.) Ferra asserted causes of action for failure to pay minimum wages (Lab. Code, § 1197), failure to pay all wages due during each pay period (id., §§ 204, 226.7), failure to pay overtime wages (id., §§ 510, 1194), violation of the Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200, et seq.), failure to pay all wages owed upon termination (Lab. Code, $\S\S 201-203, 510, 1194$), and failure to furnish accurate wage statements (id., § 226). (C.T. 5:1014-1028.) Each cause of action was asserted on behalf of one of three alleged classes, the broadest of which was defined to include all Loews employees in California dating back to June 26, 2011. (Opn., p. 2; C.T. 5:1018, 1021-1027.) Ferra alleged that Loews improperly calculated premium pay for missed meal and rest periods based on class members' hourly rate, thus resulting in nonpayment of "wages and penalties." (C.T. 5:1016, 1022.) Ferra also claimed Loews

failed to pay wages, and underpaid wages, by subjecting class members "to a rounding policy." (C.T. 5:1017-1018, 1021.)

On August 19, 2016, pursuant to the parties' stipulation and Code of Civil Procedure section 437c, subdivision (t), the trial court ordered that it would summarily adjudicate the following legal issues based on stipulated undisputed facts: (1) "Whether meal and rest period premium payments paid to employees pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7 must be paid at employees' 'regular rate of compensation,' i.e. their regular hourly wage, or at their 'regular rate of pay"; and (2) if the trial court rejected Loews's interpretation of "regular rate of compensation," whether section 226.7 "is void for uncertainty under the 'due process' clause of the United States Constitution because [Loews] and other employers have not been on notice of what is required by [section] 226.7." (C.T. 1:16; opn., p. 3.)

Loews filed its motion for summary adjudication of the above-referenced issues, and supporting papers, on October 5, 2016. (C.T. 1:29-137.) Ferra filed her opposition papers on November 23, 2016 (C.T. 2:246-488, 3:489-598), and Loews filed reply papers on December 9, 2016 (C.T. 3:601-638).

After taking the motion under submission on January 24, 2017 (C.T. 5:1091), the trial court issued an order on February 6, 2017, in which it granted the motion as to the first issue and deemed the second issue to be moot (C.T. 5:1092-1107; opn., p. 3). The trial court agreed with Loews that break premiums "must be paid at employees' 'regular rate of compensation,' i.e., their regular hourly wage, and not at their 'regular rate of pay." (C.T.

5:1104; opn., p. 3.) Subsequently, on March 24, 2017, the trial court issued an order granting summary judgment for Loews and specifically finding its rounding policy is neutral both on its face and as applied. (C.T. 6:1425-1446; opn., pp. 3-4.)

Ferra appealed the judgment. (Opn., p. 4.) In a published decision, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three, affirmed the judgment in full. (Opn., p. 22; *Ferra v. Loews Hollywood Hotel, LLC* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1239.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS APPROPRIATE WHERE, AS HERE, THERE ARE NO TRIABLE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.

Summary judgment or adjudication "shall be granted if all the papers submitted show that there is no triable issue as to any material fact" (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subds. (c), (f)(2).) A moving defendant meets its "burden of showing that a cause of action has no merit if that party has shown that one or more elements of the cause of action ... cannot be established, or that there is a complete defense to that cause of action." (*Id.*, subd. (p)(2).) Once the defendant meets its burden, "the burden shifts to the plaintiff ... to show that a triable issue of one or more material facts exists as to that cause of action or a defense thereto." (*Ibid.*) The trial court's order granting summary adjudication is reviewed independently. (*Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 870.)

II. THE TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY
RULED THAT BREAK PREMIUMS MUST BE PAID AT
EMPLOYEES' REGULAR HOURLY RATE, RATHER THAN AT
THE OVERTIME "REGULAR RATE OF PAY."

In 1999, the Legislature passed Assembly Bill No. 60 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) (AB 60), titled the "Eight-Hour-Day Restoration and Workplace Flexibility Act of 1999." This law required the IWC to "review its wage orders and readopt orders conforming to the Legislature's expressed intentions," and also added Labor Code section 512, "which for the first time set out statutory meal period requirements." (*Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1045 (*Brinker*).)

In compliance with AB 60, the IWC conducted a "plenary review," held public hearings, "and adopted revised wage orders for each industry, including the current version of Wage Order No. 5, wage order No. 5-2001" (*Brinker*, at pp. 1045-1046)—which the parties agree governs this case (see OBM 4-5 [i.e., Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits, pp. 4-5]). For the first time, the wage orders provided for meal and rest period premiums. The relevant subdivisions of Wage Order No. 5-2001 state as follows:

"If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal period is not provided." (IWC Wage Order No. 5-2001 (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11050) (Wage Order No. 5-2001), subd. 11(B), italics added.)

"If an employer fails to provide an employee a rest period in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the rest period is not provided." (*Id.*, subd. 12(B), italics added.)²

Later in the same session in which it adopted AB 60, the Legislature passed Assembly Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) (AB 2509), which codified the meal and rest premium requirements newly added to the wage orders. Section 226.7 precludes an employer from requiring an employee "to work during a meal or rest or recovery period mandated pursuant to an applicable statute, or applicable regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board, or the Division of Occupational Safety and Health." (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subd. (b).) If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal, rest, or recovery period as required by state law, it "shall pay the employee one additional

IWC Wage Order Nos. 1-2001 through 4-2001, 6-2001 through 12-2001, 15-2001, and 16-2001 likewise provide for one hour's pay at the "regular rate of compensation" for failure to provide meal and rest periods. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11010, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11020, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11030, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11040, subds. 11(B), 12(B); id., § 11060, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11070, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11080, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11090, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11100, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11110, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11120, subds. 11(C), 12(B); id., § 11150, subds. 11(D), 12(B); id., § 11160, subds. 10(F), 11(D); see id., § 11170, subd. 9(C) [Wage Order No. 17-2001 ("miscellaneous employees") requires meal premiums but not rest periods].) Wage Order Nos. 13-2001 and 14-2001 (various agriculture employees) both require meal and rest periods, but do not separately prescribe premium pay for failure to provide such periods. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11130, subds. 11, 12, § 11140, subds. 11, 12.)

hour of pay at the employee's *regular rate of compensation* for each workday that the meal or rest or recovery period is not provided." (*Id.*, subd. (c), italics added.)

Ferra contends the phrase "regular rate of compensation" in section 226.7(c) and the wage order has the same meaning as "regular rate of pay," which was an established term of art in the context of overtime premium pay under California law long before 2000. (See Lab. Code, § 510, subd. (a); Wage Order No. 5-2001, subd. 3(A)(1); pp. 22-27, post.) The trial court and Court of Appeal disagreed with Ferra, and followed the weight of authority which holds that, for hourly-paid employees such as Ferra, the "regular rate of compensation" is their regular hourly wage. These lower court decisions were correct.

A. Multiple Canons of Statutory Construction Support Construing "Regular Rate of Compensation" to Mean an Employee's Base Hourly Rate.

In ascertaining a statute's meaning, courts "examine the language first, as it is the language of the statute itself that has 'successfully braved the legislative gauntlet.' [Citation.]" (Wasatch Property Management v. Degrate (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1111, 1117 (Wasatch).) "[T]he words of the statute ... '... generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent.' [Citation.]" (Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1103 (Murphy).)

The statute's plain language controls if it is "without ambiguity, doubt, or uncertainty." (Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1239; see People v.

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